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The idea of a public library in Fort
Wayne, Indiana, was conceived by a
former Michigan journalist and his
allies in the late 1870s, brought to
fruition through the work of club
women in the early 1890s, and born
with a public meeting hosted by the
mayor in City Hall council chambers
on January 28, 1895. “Whatto
Read. Our New Library Solves the
Problem.” proclaimed the headline
on a story about the new library in
the next day’s Fort Wayne J ournal.l

“Someone has said, ‘All things
come to him who waits,”” Mr. D. N.
Foster said in his speech to the
crowd gathered in council chambers

\.¢ evening of the celebration. The

ormer Grand Rapids, Michigan
resident explained how he had left
Grand Rapids and its public library
in 1877 and moved to Fort Wayne,
not then, as he termed it, “an ideal
American city.”2 In 1877, Fort
Wayne not only had no public
library, but no sewers, no water
works, no paved streets, and only a
volunteer fire department.

In the summer of 1880, Foster and
other residents interested in the idea
of a public library approached local
attorney Col. R. S. Robertson for aid.
Robertson, without pay, authored an
act that empowered all cities and
incorporated towns of Indiana to
provide a free public library in
connection with the local school
system, and the authority to levy a
tax of not more than three cents on
each one hundred dollars worth of
property to establish and maintain

-the facility. The bill passed on

March 7, 1881.3

In Fort Wayne, where the bill was
authored, no public library appeared
for fourteen more years, although the
board of school trustees asked the
city council for a tax levy for a
library that very first year - Spring of
1881. The city council, which was
described in Foster’s speech at the
library opening celebration as “domi-
nated by persons who were hostile to
the enterprise and who at once set
about finding some way to evade the
law,”4 managed to do just that. The
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council found what Foster termed a
“loophole” in a late provision added

to the library bill while it was before

the legislature.

Evansville representatives at that
time noted that their city was one of
two in the state that already had a
public library supported by taxation,
and that it might prefer to follow its
“old law,” rather than adopt the
policies set down by the proposed
bill. The Evansville representatives
suggested the following provision to
Robertson’s bill: “Provided: That in
any city or incorporated town where
there is already established a library
open to all the people, no tax shall be
levied for the purpose herein
named.”d :

When Fort Wayne’s board of
school trustees requested a tax levy
for the purpose of establishing a
public library in 1881, the city
attorney reported that the city al-
ready had “a library open to all our
people,” and the council denied the
request. Foster, in his speech,
described this “library” as “a back
office and on the dust-covered
shelves of our township trustee.”® It
probably consisted of the remnants
of one of the old township libraries
established by law in 1852, 1854 and
1855 and allowed to become de-
funct.’

- This precedent of denial by the city
council was followed until July of
1893, when the Woman’s Club
League approached the common
council with a petition signed by
hundreds of taxpayers asking that a
public library be established in Fort
Wayne. This time the council agreed
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and levied a tax of one and a half
cents, which gamered $3,261.11 for
Fort Wayne’s first public library.8

The library’s initial, temporary
home was a room in City Hall. Fort
Wayne residents got their first
glimpses of the small library of
3,606 volumes when it opened its
doors at 10 a.m. on January 29, 1895
in the charge of Susan Hoffman,
librarian. The sources of these books
were as follows: 117 from the
Woman'’s Club League, 800 from the
Allen County Teachers Association,
1,028 from the school board from the
library of the high school, 247 from
private individuals, and 1,414 pur-
chased specifically for the new
library. Of the books from the high
school library, a portion had been
part of the collection of the Working
Men’s Institute Library operated
earlier in the city.9

Public interest and library use were
great immediately; 1,477 residents
held library cards by July and 4,461
had used the reading room.10
Within the year, the board of school
trustees chose to relocate it to larger
quarters - the Sol D. Bayless prop-
erty at the southwest corner of East
Wayne and Clinton Streets. 11 Three
years later, the library moved again,
this time to a site it had purchased
for $14,000 at the corner of Wayne
and Webster Streets. 12 It opened its
doors to the public on October 20,
1898, and has been in the same
location for the past ninety-three
years.

Librarians and library assistants to
the turn of the century included
Hoffman, Clara Fowler, Jennie
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Evans, Margaret M. Colerick, Nancy
vicLachlan and a Miss Sturgis.
Helen Tracy Guild, hired in 1897,
was the library’s first cataloger.
ffiowler followed Hoffman as librar-
ian, and Colerick was appointed
‘ibrarian upon Fowler’s death in
1898,13 a position she filled until
1934.

Andrew Carnegie’s Gift

By the turn of the century, Fort
Wayne’s library had outgrown its
building once again. The Woman’s
Club League, instrumental in estab-
lishing the library originally, again
acted on behalf of the facility and,
with the help of other interested
citizens, requested the aid of national
philanthropist Andrew Carnegie in
1901. Carnegie did not grant this
first request.14 But upon a second
request, he gave $75,000, plus an
additional gift of $15,000, toward the
construction of a new public library
building in Fort Wayne.15

The library occupied temporary
quarters in the old Elektron building
on East Berry Street while the
Carnegie library was being con-
structed. It was there in 1901 that
the library’s first specialized depart-
ment - the Children’s Department -
began.

On January 7, 1904, the new
Carnegie library building of buff-
colored Indiana limestone at the
corner of Wayne and Webster Streets
was dedicated. It was open from
January 8 to August 18, then closed
for decorating work and reopened
permanently on October 13.16
Specialization

As the library grew, specialization
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within its collections developed. The
Children’s Department, already
mentioned, was the facility’s first
specialized department. In 1912, the
library opened the Business and
Municipal Department, 17 now
known as the Business and Technol-
ogy Department. As early as 1905,
the library was collecting material
relating to the history of Indiana and
Allen County in particular, which
later became the Indiana Collection,
18 3 complement to the nationally-
acclaimed Historical Genealogy
Department. The Historical Geneal-
ogy Department formally was estab-
lished in 1961, but as early as 1935,
librarian Rex M. Potterf said in an
address before the Quest Club,
“Genealogy and local history are
favorite pursuits and the facilities (of
the library) for such are good.”lg

The precursor of today’s Art,
Music and Audiovisual Department
began during World War II as the
Record Room, where patrons could
borrow 78 rpm discs.20 The Young
Adults Department opened in 1952.
Public access cable television was
added to the library in 1981, with the
advent of the Television Services
Department. The reference desk
became the Readers’ Services De-
partment in 1983.21
Projects and Experiments

Beginning early in its history, the
Fort Wayne Public Library experi-
mented with various services beyond
the mere lending of books. These
included renting books, open shelves
for patron browsing and reference
service.

In 1900, the library tried the
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experiment of renting extra copies of
popular fiction. Five works, Richard
Garvel, Janice Meredith, Gentleman
From Indiana, To Have and To
Hold, and The Light of Scarthey,
were rented a total of 586 times
during a nine-month period and
brought in monies slightly exceeding
the initial cost of the books. To
satisfy patrons’ demands for the
latest books, the library started a
rental collection again in 1922. It
contained fiction and non-fiction
volumes that were duplicates of
circulating books.

With the move to temporary
quarters during the construction of
the Carnegie building in 1901, the
library initiated its open-shelf sys-
tem, allowing patrons to choose
books by browsing.

Early reference service practiced
by librarians at the Public Library of
Fort Wayne and Allen County was
mentioned in an undated pamphlet
titled “Equal Book Privileges for The
Farm Home and The City Home,”
probably published between 1920
and 1931. The pamphlet described
countywide library services and
included this paragraph: “Farm
clubs, community clubs, literary
societies and women’s clubs may get
the help they need for papers, de-
bates and discussions by requesting
material on their special subjects.”22

Librarians of this time period also
provided at least some reader’s
advisory service, as evidenced by
this passage from the same pam-
phlet: “Help will be given as to the
best books on any subjects, and book
lists will be furnished upon request.”
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Also: “Through the County Librar-
ian, reading lists and experienced
help on the best books on specified
subjects may be secured. For this
service, reading lists already com-
piled by the Main Library, revised
frequently and kept on file, may be
drawn upon. New subjects will be
considered and a list of recom-
mended books submitted upon
request.”23

Another innovation was providing
patrons with current newspapers
from New York; Boston; Indianapo-
lis; Springfield, IL; San Francisco;
and St. Louis. These appeared in the
reading room in the fall of 1901,
when the library began subscriptions.

By 1902, citizens from Allen
County who did not live within the
Fort Wayne city limits were allowed
library privileges if they paid a fee of
$1 or showed proof that they owned
property in Fort Wayne.

Also in 1902, the library began a
program of lending books to schools
that were considered too far away for
students to use the library conve-
niently. Either for better service to
school language classes or because
of Fort Wayne’s strong German
heritage (or perhaps both), 150
German language books appeared on
the shelves of the public library in
1902. Before this time the library
had circulated only English language
books. French language books were
added to the collection in 1913 at the
request of local French classes.

Interlibrary loan within the Fort
Wayne and Allen County system
began in the 1920s after the advent
of county library service. County
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residents had “the privilege of
porrowing books of unusual interest
or those on special subjects from the
Jarge resources of the Public Library
of Fort Wayne and Allen County.”
Any circulating volume in its collec-
tion was available to be borrowed
and was delivered to the library or
person requesting it.24
County and Extension Services

Until 1920, the Fort Wayne Public
Library’s services were free only to
residents of the city or those who
owned property within the city
limits. But in that year, a petition
was circulated asking for county
library service, a tax was levied, and
the Fort Wayne Public Library
became the Public Library of Fort
Wayne and Allen County.25 The
Allen County Department was
formed to meet the needs of residents
outside the city limits. A pamphlet
published shortly after the advent of
county library service described the
services of the Allen County Depart-
ment, including library branches and
deposits; reading and reference aids;
interlibrary loan; and service to
school libraries.26

Years before the advent of
countywide library service, the idea
of reaching out to patrons who were
not convenient to the library’s
downtown location had blossomed.
Wayne Knitting Mills, a local fac-
tory, was the recipient of the first
extension project of the public
library in Fort Wayne. A small
collection of books was placed at the
mills in 1909. In 1916, the library’s
Extension Department became
official and began placing selections

/19

of books in factories, fire depart-
ments, and other locations. Hospital
outreach service began in 1924 at
Saint Joseph Hospital.

Schools also began to reap the
rewards of the Extension Department
with the establishment of the first
public library high school branch at
Central High School in 1917. A
second high school branch opened at
Southside High School in 1922.
Northside High School’s branch
opened in 1927. With the expansion
to county service in 1920, several of
the rural high schools received
library book “deposit stations.”
Jurisdiction of the high school
branch libraries returned to the
schools in 1930.

Branch libraries made their debut
in 1912 with the opening of the
Southside branch (now Shawnee) on
South Calhoun Street. The
Northside branch (now Little Turtle)
opened at Wells and Sixth Streets in
1919. Since the change in 1920 from
a city to a countywide focus, it has
been a challenge for the public
library in Fort Wayne to bring its
services and materials within reach
of patrons, not just in the city, but in
all areas of Indiana’s largest county.
The library opened branches in
Huntertown, Monroeville and New
Haven in 1921 in an effort to meet
this goal. The Harlan branch fol-
lowed in January of 1922, and the
Pontiac branch library was estab-
lished later the same year.

In November of 1926, the
Richardville branch opened on South
Broadway, and the Tecumseh branch
opened on State Boulevard in Janu-
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ary of 1927. The Monroeville
branch library opened in 1928. One
source also mentions a “Maumee”
branch but gives no details or dates.
The library established a reading
room with circulating books in the
nearby town of Arcola in late 1929,
as well as other “deposit stations”
across the county. The year 1929
also saw the advent of the public
library’s bookmobile in Fort Wayne,
then referred to as a “book-wagon.”
It was one of the first bookmobiles in
the nation. In 1930, book-wagon
circulation totaled more than 17,000
items.

By 1931, the Public Library of Fort
Wayne and Allen County had a main
library, five city branches, eighty-
seven city deposit stations, four
county branches, three reading
rooms and 111 county deposit
stations, as well as a book-wagon.27
“Library centers” were located at
Wilder’s General Store in Aboite,
More’s General Store in Arcola, G.S.
Myer’s home in Cedarville,
Grabner’s General Store in Edgerton,
the post office in Grabill, Moore’s
Filling Station in Hall’s Corners,
Barkley’s Lumber Yard in Hoagland,
Warner’s General Store in Leo, D.L.
Small’s home in Maples, Linker’s
Filling Station in St. Joe,
Townsend’s General Store in
Tillman, Farmer’s Equity Exchange
in Wallen, Noble’s Grocery Store in
Waynedale, opposite Village Hall in
Woodburn, the post office in Yoder,
and Knight’s General Store in
Zanesville.28
1930s-1950s

The period of growth and expan-
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sion in the 1920s was followed by
the Great Depression of the 1930s.
Allen County’s library suffered
through the Depression with in-
creased business from the unem-
ployed but with a budget barely large
enough to remain solvent. The local
newspaper described the hard condi-
tions:
Valuable staff members were
discharged, only a few books
were purchased, rebinding
was practically discontinued,
points of contact with the
public were eliminated or
reduced in operation and the
book stock (was) almost worn
out by the hordes of unem-
ployed who came to the
library since they no longer
had money to spend on
amusements and entertain-
ment.29

Librarian Colerick died in 1934,
and Rex M. Potterf took charge of
the library in January of 1935. With
his guidance, the facility was reorga-
nized with a new approach that took
into account the suffering
economy.30 Gradually the library,
like the rest of the country, fought its
way back. The Works Progress
Administration aided in this process
by making the repair of the main
library and the branches one of its
projects.

The library that suffered almost
“an almost mortal blow”’31 during
the Depression, began to thrive again
during the 1940s and 1950s. Two
new bookmobiles with some sixty-
six stops began rolling on Fort
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Wayne streets in 1949 and 1951,
again reaching toward formerly
distant patrons.32

1960s-1990s

By the early-1960s, when it was
apparent that the facility had out-
grown its Carnegie building, Fort
Wayne’s population - in effect the
public library’s “public” - had
quadrupled. 3

In 1952, 56,204 registered patrons
had borrowed 1,352,307 books and
23,707 phonograph records, and by
1962, 86,122 registered patrons
borrowed 2,446,230 books and
32,153 phonograph records, an
increase of more than half over 1952
ﬁgures.34

Books and other materials were
stored in 14 separate downtown
locations because of a lack of space.
Seven bookmobiles covered Allen
County and made 250 stops per
week. The system supported eight
branch libraries. Seventy-two public
and parochial schools were stocked
with books and staffed by public
library personnel.

“So we see that during the past ten
years the faster pace of world affairs,
business, technology and cultural
writing, with the resultant flood of
books from publishers, has brought
to our Library a problem of contain-
ment. No place to put the books.
The printed records is rapidly out-
growing our space for orderly ar-
rangement. Books are of no value if
not readily available,” said a local
newspaper advertisement, apparently
a pre-bond issue plea, in 1962.35

When firm plans were made for a
new library building, collections
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moved into cramped, temporary
quarters in the Purdue Center. The
Carnegie library was razed and the
new modern-looking building of
stark, white concrete went up. It was
dedicated and opened in August of
1968.

An addition of 55,000 square feet
that now houses the Historical
Genealogy and Young Adults De-
partments was added to the building
in 1981.36

The year 1990 saw a great deal of
renovation and growth for the facil-
ity now known as the Allen County
Public Library. The main library and
its branches were renovated, ex-
panded, moved or, in one case,
completely razed and rebuilt. In
addition, two new branches were
opened in the Dupont and Aboite
areas.
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Fort Wayne Public Library Extension Department, Saint Joseph's
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Fort Wayne Public Library Northside Branch, 1922.
Photo courtesy of Allen County Public Library.
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An unknown man demonstrates in favor of the library, 1976.
Photo courtesy of Fort Wayne Journal Gazette.



